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SUSANNE C. KOSKI, State Bar No. 176555 
CARMELA E. DUKE, State Bar No. 270348 
Superior Court of California, County of San Diego 
1100 Union Street 
San Diego, California 92101 
Telephone: (619) 844-2382 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil,  
Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of  
San Diego  
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
ANDREW FLORES, et al.,  
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 
 
 Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 20-cv-0656-TWR-DEB 
 
DEFENDANT JUDGE JOEL R. 
WOHLFEIL’S NOTICE OF MOTION 
AND MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH 
PREJUDICE  
 
Date:     May 5, 2021 
Time:    1:30 p.m. 
Crtrm:   3A (Schwartz) 
Judge:   The Honorable Todd W. Robinson 
 
[NO ORAL ARGUMENT 
REQUESTED] 

TO ALL PARTIES AND/OR THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD:   
 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on May 5, 2021, at 1:30 p.m., in Courtroom 3A 
of the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, located at 
221 West Broadway (Schwartz), San Diego, California 92101, before The Honorable 
Judge Todd W. Robinson, Defendant the Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil,  Judge of the 
Superior Court of California, County of San Diego (“Judge Wohlfeil”), will move to 
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dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) and each claim for relief 
pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure ("FRCP") 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) on the 
following grounds: 
 1. Because Judge Wohlfeil enjoys absolute judicial immunity, this Court 
lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the FAC pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(1) and 
the FAC fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under FRCP 12(b)(6); 
 2. The action is barred by Eleventh Amendment Immunity.  Accordingly, 
this Court lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter of the FAC pursuant to FRCP 
12(b)(1) and the FAC fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted under 
FRCP 12(b)(6);  

3. Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for declaratory relief and therefore should be 
dismissed pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6) and FRCP 12(b)(1) because they lack standing 
under Article III of the U.S. Constitution; and 
 4. The FAC fails to state facts sufficient to state a viable § 1983 claim 
against Judge Wohlfeil and therefore should be dismissed pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6). 

The Motion to Dismiss will be based on this Notice of Motion and Motion, the 
Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the Request for Judicial Notice with Exhibits 
A-I, the Declaration of Carmela E. Duke, all of which are served and filed herewith, as 
well as the pleadings and other papers filed hereon. 

 
      SUSANNE C. KOSKI 

Superior Court of California, County of San 
Diego 

DATED: 
By: __s/ Carmela E. Duke             _________ 

January 13, 2021           CARMELA E. DUKE 
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel 
R. Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of 
California, County of San Diego 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
ANDREW FLORES, et al.,  
 
  Plaintiffs, 
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GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 
 
 Defendants. 

) 
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) 
) 
) 
) 
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) 
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) 

Case No. 20-cv-0656-TWR-DEB 
 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND 
AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH 
PREJUDICE BY DEFENDANT JUDGE 
JOEL R. WOHLFEIL 
 
Date:     May 5, 2021 
Time:    1:30 p.m. 
Crtrm:   3A (Schwartz) 
Judge:   The Honorable Todd W. Robinson 
 
[NO ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED] 

/   /   / 
/   /   / 
/   /   / 
/   /   / 
/   /   /
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I.  
INTRODUCTION 

In this action, Plaintiffs Andrew Flores, Amy Sherlock, T.S., and S.S., (collectively 
“Plaintiffs”) have sued Judge Joel R. Wohlfeil and a multitude of other defendants1 because 
they are unhappy with the rulings he made in connection with two underlying civil actions 
adjudicated in the Superior Court of California, County of San Diego (“the Superior 
Court”). The state court actions both concerned a dispute regarding an alleged real estate 
purchase and sale agreement between Darryl Cotton (“Cotton”) and Larry Geraci 
(“Geraci”). Specifically, the dispute concerned whether Cotton agreed to sell Geraci his 
real property for the purposes of establishing a Medical Marijuana Consumer Collective 
(“MMCC”) on the property. Cotton lost in both state court actions. Although Plaintiffs 
were not parties in the state court actions, through this federal lawsuit, they seek to void 
the state court judgments and recover damages for their alleged losses resulting from the 
two underlying lawsuits.2  

As against Judge Wohlfeil, Plaintiff Flores asserts a claim for violation of civil rights 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (First Cause of Action) and all Plaintiffs assert a claim for 
declaratory relief wherein they seek to have this Court make various determinations 
concerning the underlying state court actions (Sixth Cause of Action).  However, both of 
these claims are based solely on the decisions and rulings made by Judge Wohlfeil in the 
performance of his judicial duties and therefore are absolutely barred by the doctrine of 
judicial immunity. Nor can these causes of action triumph over the immunity provided by 
the Eleventh Amendment.  
/  /  / 
                                                                 
1 Plaintiffs have named over 20 individuals, many of whom are attorneys, seven corporate 
entities, and one municipality as defendants in this lawsuit. 
2 As indicated in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of California Civil Docket, this 
case is related to Cotton v. Geraci, et al., case no. 3:18-cv-00325-TWR-DEB (“related 
case”). The related case is brought by Darryl Cotton and also alleges a civil rights claim 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Judge Wohlfeil, which is based on his rulings and decisions 
made as a judge in the same state actions which are the subject of this lawsuit. 
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Further, the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) fails to allege viable claims for relief 
against Judge Wohlfeil. Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief cause of action fails to state a 
cognizable claim because it is not a separate and independent cause of action, Plaintiffs 
improperly seek to redress past wrongs through this cause of action, and they lack standing 
to bring this claim. Plaintiff Flores fails to state a viable § 1983 claim for relief because he 
has not alleged a plausible constitutional violation. Thus, for all of these reasons, Judge 
Wohlfeil respectfully requests that this Court dismiss the FAC, without leave to amend, 
and enter a judgment of dismissal, with prejudice, in his favor. 

II. 
SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS OF THE FAC3 

A.  The Parties and Overview of the Underlying Litigation. 
     i. Cotton I 
On March 21, 2017, Geraci filed a state court action against Cotton alleging breach 

of contract, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, specific performance, and 
declaratory relief as it related to an alleged real estate purchase and sale agreement (37-
2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL) (hereinafter “Cotton I”). (FAC at ¶¶ 129-131; see also 
Complaint in Cotton I, RJN, Ex. A.) The dispute concerned the sale of the property for 
purposes of founding a MMCC. Judge Wohlfeil was the judge assigned to Cotton I. (See 
Notice of Case Assignment for Cotton I, RJN, Ex. B.)  

A jury decided the fate of Cotton I and rendered a verdict in favor of Geraci and 
against Cotton. (See Judgment on Jury Verdict, RJN, Ex. C.) Judge Wohlfeil denied 
Cotton’s motion for new trial. (FAC at ¶ 198.) Cotton appealed, but the California Court 
of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, dismissed the appeal because Cotton 
failed to timely designate the record and also failed to timely deposit costs for preparing 
the record on appeal. (See Remittitur, RJN, Ex. D.)  

                                                                 
3 The facts set forth are taken from those alleged in the FAC, as supplemented by the 
documents submitted in connection with Judge Wohlfeil’s Request for Judicial Notice 
(“RJN”).  
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     ii. Cotton II 
On October 6, 2017, Cotton filed an action seeking an alternative writ of mandate 

against Geraci, which was also assigned to Judge Wohlfeil (37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-
CTL) (hereinafter “Cotton II”). (FAC at ¶¶ 206, 214.) Judge Wohlfeil denied Cotton’s 
petition for writ of mandate. (FAC at ¶ 214.) Judgment was entered in Geraci’s favor. (See 
Judgment After Order Denying Motion for Issuance of Peremptory Writ of Mandate, RJN, 
Ex. E.) Cotton appealed and the Remittitur was issued on November 5, 2018, dismissing 
the appeal because he failed to timely designate the appellate record. (See Remittitur, RJN, 
Ex. F.) 

     iii. Plaintiffs’ involvement in Cotton I and Cotton II 
Plaintiff Flores was not a party in Cotton I or Cotton II. (See Case Summary of 

Parties, RJN, Ex. G.)  Instead, he is an attorney who made isolated special appearances on 
behalf of Cotton in Cotton I (FAC at ¶ 184) and, at one point, moved to intervene and 
become a party to the action, which was denied by Judge Wohlfeil. (FAC at ¶ 182.) 
Notwithstanding, Plaintiff Flores alleges in the FAC “he ha[s] become the equitable owner 
of the Property” at issue in Cotton I. (FAC at ¶¶ 182, 239.) 

The Sherlock Plaintiffs were also not parties in Cotton I or Cotton II. (See Case 
Summary of Parties, RJN, Ex. G.) Plaintiffs also confirm they were not parties in the state 
action and further allege they were not in privity with any parties in Cotton I and II. (FAC 
at ¶ 18.) Notwithstanding, in the FAC, the Sherlock Plaintiffs allege they have an interest 
in two cannabis conditional use permits, the “Balboa CUP” and the “Ramona CUP,” which 
they claim were fraudulently acquired by certain defendants named in the FAC, but not by 
Judge Wohlfeil. (FAC at ¶¶ 82-109.) 

B.  Plaintiffs’ Allegations Against Judge Wohlfeil. 
Although the FAC is lengthy and difficult to follow, Plaintiffs’ factual allegations 

against Judge Wohlfeil center on official rulings and decisions he made in the underlying 
actions. Such allegations include the following: 
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• In Cotton I, Judge Wohlfeil “denied the DQ motion incorrectly.” (FAC ¶ 191.) 
According to Plaintiffs, the law “mandated [Judge Wohlfeil’s] recusal.” (FAC at ¶¶ 
187-191; 249-252.) 

• In Cotton I, Judge Wohlfeil “refused” to address and adjudicate “questions of law” 
in Cotton’s motion for summary judgment or, alternatively, summary adjudication.  
(FAC at ¶¶ 170-172; 255-258.) Thus, Judge Wohlfeil’s ruling on said motion is 
incorrect.  

• During the trial in Cotton I, Judge Wohlfeil erroneously “prohibited Cotton and 
Hurtado from providing contradicting testimony. . . .” (FAC at ¶ 179.) 

• During the trial in Cotton I, Judge Wohlfeil improperly “prohibited Cotton and 
Hurtado from testifying about Magagna’s attempts to bribe and threaten Corina 
Young, a material third-party witness to the conspiracy.” (FAC at ¶ 181.) 

• In Cotton I, Judge Wohlfeil erroneously denied Cotton’s motion for new trial. (FAC 
at ¶¶ 195-205; 260-263.) According to Plaintiff Flores, Judge Wohlfeil’s finding that 
the defense of illegality had been waived was not only “factually contradicted by the 
record of [sic] Cotton I” but also wrong as a matter of law. (FAC at ¶¶ 260-263.) 

• Judge Wohlfeil’s “denial of Flores’ motion to intervene in Cotton I action” 
improperly “deprive[d] Flores” of various constitutional rights. (FAC at ¶¶ 264-
265.) 

• In Cotton II, Judge Wohlfeil’s “denying Cotton’s petition is void for, inter alia, 
enforcing an illegal contract.” (FAC ¶ 214.) 
In light of the alleged erroneous rulings referenced above, and in addition to various 

acts of the other defendants, Plaintiffs allege that Cotton I is a “sham,” and the “judgment 
‘enforces an illegal contract procured through, inter alia, a fraud on the court.’” (FAC at p. 
14.) 

C.  Causes of Action Against Judge Wohlfeil. 
Plaintiff Flores asserts a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil rights cause of action against Judge 

Wohlfeil (the First Cause of Action). (FAC at ¶¶ 247-265.) He alleges his civil rights have 
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been deprived because of Judge Wohlfeil’s erroneous rulings made throughout the course 
of Cotton I. (FAC at ¶¶ 247-265.) Plaintiff Flores and the Sherlock Plaintiffs also assert a 
declaratory relief cause of action against Judge Wohlfeil (the Sixth Cause of Action), 
alleging declaratory relief is required because the judgments in Cotton I and II are void, in 
part, “for being the product of judicial bias” and a controversy “exists between Plaintiffs 
and Defendants . . . concerning the validity of the judgements [sic] in question and (i) their 
acts or failure to act that contributed to the procurement of those judgments and (ii) their 
knowledge that those judgments are void.” (FAC at ¶¶ 311, 313.) 

In addition to damages, Plaintiffs seek to have the “judgments in Cotton I and II . . . 
be declared void;” “[a] declaration that Plaintiffs be allowed to join Cotton I as 
indispensable parties;” “[a] declaration that Flores be allowed to join Cotton II as an 
indispensable party;” “[a]n order that Cotton I and Cotton II be stayed pending resolution 
of this federal action;” and “[a] declaration that no ruling, order or judgment issued by 
Judge Wohlfeil may be used by defendants to justify any action in this matter due to judicial 
bias.” (FAC at p. 45.)  

III. 
ARGUMENT 

A.  Legal Standard. 
 Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) allows for a motion to dismiss based on 
lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1).  Such a motion may be 
facial, where the inquiry is confined to the allegations in the complaint, or factual, where 
the court looks beyond the complaint to extrinsic evidence. Wolfe v. Strankman, 392 F.3d 
358, 362 (9th Cir. 2004).   

A motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure is a challenge to the sufficiency of the pleadings set forth in the complaint. A 
dismissal is proper under Rule 12(b)(6) when the complaint “fails to state a cognizable 
legal theory or fails to allege sufficient factual support for its legal theories.” Caltex 
Plastics, Inc. v. Lockheed Martin Corporation, 824 F.3d 1156, 1159 (9th Cir. 2016). A 
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Rule 12(b)(6) motion for failure to state a claim may also challenge defenses disclosed on 
the face of the complaint or which are apparent from matters subject to judicial notice.  
Weisbuch v. County of Los Angeles, 119 F.3d 778, 783 n.1 (9th Cir. 1997); Skilstaf, Inc. v. 
CVS Caremark Corp., 669 F.3d 1005, 1016 n. 9 (9th Cir. 2012); Mack v. South Bay Beer 
Distributors, Inc., 798 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 1986), overruled on other grounds by 
Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104 (1991).  
 “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, 
accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 
556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). “While legal conclusions can 
provide the framework of a complaint, they must be supported by factual allegations.” Id. 
at 679. A court is “free to ignore legal conclusions, unsupported conclusions, unwarranted 
inferences and sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations.”  Farm 
Credit Servs. v. Am. State Bank, 339 F.3d 764, 767 (8th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted). 

B. Judge Wohlfeil Enjoys Absolute Judicial Immunity Against Plaintiffs’ 
Claims. 

“Judges and those performing judge-like functions are absolutely immune from 
damage liability for acts performed in their official capacities.” Ashelman v. Pope, 793 
F.2d 1072, 1075 (9th Cir. 1986). “This absolute immunity insulates judges from charges 
of erroneous acts or irregular action, even when it is alleged that such action was driven by 
malicious or corrupt motives, [citation], or when the exercise of judicial authority is 
‘flawed by the commission of grave procedural errors.’” In re Castillo, 297 F.3d 940, 947 
(9th Cir. 2002) (quoting Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 359 (1978)).  “Judicial 
immunity discourages collateral attacks on final judgments through civil suits, and thus 
promotes the use of ‘appellate procedures as the standard system for correcting judicial 
error.’” Id. (quoting Forrester v. White, 484 U.S. 219, 225 (1988)).   

“Judicial immunity applies however erroneous the act may have been, and however 
injurious in its consequences it may have proved to the plaintiff.” Ashelman, 793 F.2d at 
1075 (internal quotation marks omitted). “Disagreement with the action taken by [a] 
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judge,” even one resulting in “tragic consequences,” “does not justify depriving that judge 
of his immunity.” Stump, 435 U.S. at 363 (applying judicial immunity to judge who 
approved petition for sterilization even if approval was in error). 

Immunity is overcome in only two situations: where the judge “acts in the clear 
absence of all jurisdiction, [citation], or performs an act that is not ‘judicial’ in nature.”   
Ashelman, 793 F.2d at 1075; see also Mireles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 11 (1991). When 
determining whether judicial immunity applies, jurisdiction is construed broadly.  Crooks 
v. Maynard, 913 F.2d 699, 701 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding immunity applied where judicial 
officer had “colorable authority” to hold parties in contempt).  A judge is not deprived of 
immunity for “[g]rave procedural errors or acts in excess of judicial authority” or if the 
judge “misinterpret[s] a statute and erroneously exercise[s] jurisdiction and thereby act[s] 
in excess of his jurisdiction.”  Schucker v. Rockwood, 846 F.2d 1202, 1204 (9th Cir. 1988). 
Thus, in Schucker, the Ninth Circuit held that even assuming the judge had acted in excess 
of his jurisdiction, judicial immunity applied because the alleged conduct by the judge “was 
not done ‘in the clear absence of jurisdiction.’”  Id. (quoting Stump, 435 U.S. at 357 n.7).   

“The factors relevant in determining whether an act is judicial ‘relate to the nature 
of the act itself, i.e., whether it is a function normally performed by a judge, and to the 
expectations of the parties, i.e., whether they dealt with the judge in his judicial capacity.’” 
Ashelman, 793 F.2d at 1075 (quoting Stump, 435 U.S. at 362). The inquiry focuses on 
whether the “‘nature’ and function of the ‘act’” is normally performed by a judge, “not the 
‘act itself.’” Mireles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 13 (1991). Additional factors to be considered 
include whether the events occurred in the judge's chambers, and whether the controversy 
centered around a case then pending before the judge. Duvall v. County of Kitsap, 260 F.3d 
1124, 1133 (9th Cir. 2001). 

Here, the FAC is devoid of any allegations suggesting that Judge Wohlfeil lacked 
jurisdiction over the underlying civil actions. Moreover, Plaintiffs’ allegations arise solely 
from the rulings and statements Judge Wohlfeil made in his official capacity as a state court 
judge. Specifically, the causes of action are expressly based on Judge Wohlfeil’s rulings 
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on: Cotton’s motion for disqualification in Cotton I (see FAC at ¶¶ 253-254; 309); Cotton’s 
motion for summary judgment or, alternatively summary adjudication in Cotton I (see FAC 
at ¶¶ 255-259; 309); Plaintiff Flores’ motion to intervene in Cotton I (see FAC at ¶¶ 264-
265; 309); admissibility of witness testimony at trial (see FAC at ¶¶ 179, 181; 309); and 
Cotton’s motion for new trial (see FAC at ¶¶ 260-263; 309). Issuing rulings in a matter 
pending before the court is a normal judicial function. Thus, Judge Wohlfeil was simply 
acting in his judicial capacity and is immune from liability for rulings made in his official 
capacity. Stump, 435 U.S. at 362.   

Finally, the proper mechanism to challenge a judge’s errors is on appeal, not by filing 
a subsequent civil litigation against the judge.  Pierson v. Ray, 386 U.S. 547, 554 (1967). 
“It is a judge's duty to decide all cases within his jurisdiction that are brought before him, 
including controversial cases that arouse the most intense feelings in the litigants. His 
errors may be corrected on appeal, but he should not have to fear that unsatisfied litigants 
may hound him with litigation charging malice or corruption.” Ibid. “Imposing such a 
burden on judges would contribute not to principled and fearless decisionmaking but to 
intimidation.” Id. Appeals were sought in Cotton I and II and both were ultimately 
dismissed. (See Remittitur, RJN, Ex. D; see also Remittitur, RJN, Ex. F.) 

For these reasons, judicial immunity precludes this action. Because this fatal defect 
cannot be cured by an amendment to the pleadings, Judge Wohlfeil respectfully requests 
that this Court dismiss this action with prejudice. 

C. Eleventh Amendment Immunity Bars Plaintiffs’ Action Against Judge 
Wohlfeil. 

The Eleventh Amendment generally bars suits against a state or an arm of the state 
under principles of sovereign immunity.  Franceschi v. Schwartz, 57 F.3d 828, 831 (9th 
Cir. 1995).  The Eleventh Amendment has been construed as a grant of sovereign immunity 
to states against suits in federal court and is in the nature of a jurisdictional bar.  See 
Alabama v. Pugh, 438 U.S. 781, 782 n.1 (1978); see also Riggle v. California, 577 F.2d 
579, 581-82 (9th Cir. 1978).  
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California superior courts are considered arms of the state and therefore enjoy 
Eleventh Amendment immunity. Simmons v. Sacramento County Superior Court, 318 F.3d 
1156, 1161 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding Eleventh Amendment barred § 1983 claim against 
superior court and its employees); Greater Los Angeles Council of Deafness, Inc. v. Zolin, 
812 F.2d 1103, 1110 (9th Cir. 1987) (“conclud[ing] that a suit against the superior court is 
a suit against the State, barred by the eleventh amendment”); Los Angeles County Ass’n of 
Envtl. Health Specialists v. Lewin, 215 F. Supp. 2d 1071, 1078 (C.D. Cal. 2002).   

Similarly, because judges and court employees are considered arms of the state, they 
are also entitled to immunity.  See Will v. Michigan Dept. of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 71 
(1989); Simmons, 318 F.3d at 1161; White v. Cox, No. C 07-3815 PJH, 2008 WL 686760, 
at *2 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 10, 2008); Oliver v. Placer Superior Court, No. 2:12-CV-2665 GEB 
GGH, 2013 WL 2488557, at *3 (E.D. Cal. Jun. 10, 2013); Mahaley v. Mapes, No. EDCV 
12-01896-PSG OP, 2013 WL 1914237, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 16, 2013).  The immunity 
applies to suits for damages, injunctive relief, and declaratory relief.  Zolin, 812 F.2d at 
1110 n.10.   

Although Plaintiffs appear to have named Judge Wohlfeil in his individual capacity 
(see FAC ¶ 30), nothing in the allegations of the FAC would lead one to the conclusion 
that Judge Wohlfeil is being sued other than in his official capacity.  See Brandon v. Holt, 
469 U.S. 464, 471-472 (1985).  As set forth above, all of the allegations against Judge 
Wohlfeil concern acts allegedly undertaken in his official capacity as a judicial officer.  
Critically, some of the remedies sought by Plaintiffs—equitable relief directed at his 
orders—are remedies that could only apply to Judge Wohlfeil in his official capacity.   

Where the state itself or one of its agencies or departments is not named as defendant 
and where a state official is named instead, the official must demonstrate that the state is 
the real party in interest and will be liable for any judgment rendered against the judge.  
Hyland v. Wonder, 117 F.3d 405, 413 (9th Cir. 1997) (“If the state officials can show that 
‘the action is in essence one for recover of money from the state, the state is the real, 
substantial party in interest and is entitled to invoke its sovereign immunity from suit even 
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though individual officials are nominal defendants.”).   
Here, California Government Code section 811.9(a) requires the Judicial Council of 

California (“the Judicial Council”) to provide for the representation, defense, and 
indemnification of judges of the superior courts for purposes of the Government Claims 
Act, Cal. Gov’t Code §§ 810 et seq. See Cal. Gov’t Code § 825(a) (discussing a public 
entity’s obligation to defend an employee against an action arising out of an act or omission 
occurring within the scope of his or her employment).  Thus, while Judge Wohlfeil, but not 
the Superior Court, is a named defendant, the State of California remains the “real, 
substantial party in interest” through the Judicial Council’s duty to provide for the 
representation, defense, and indemnification of Judge Wohlfeil in this action.  Accordingly, 
Eleventh Amendment immunity applies to Plaintiffs’ claims against Judge Wohlfeil, and 
this action should be dismissed with prejudice.     

D. Plaintiffs Fail to State a Claim for Declaratory Relief.  
 Plaintiffs fail to state a claim for declaratory relief because it is not a cognizable 
cause of action, they are impermissibly seeking redress for alleged wrongs which have 
already occurred, and because they lack standing. As a result of these shortcomings, which 
cannot be remedied through an amendment, the motion should be granted and the action 
against Judge Wohlfeil should be dismissed. 

i.  Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief cause of action fails to state a valid claim 
because it is not a cognizable cause of action. 

Plaintiffs seek declaratory relief in the Sixth Cause of Action asserting that an actual 
controversy exists between the parties concerning the validity of the judgments in Cotton 
I and II. However, “declaratory relief is not a cognizable cause of action.” Kim v. Shellpoint 
Partners, LLC, No. 15cv611-LAB (BLM), 2016 WL 1241541, at *8 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 30, 
2016). “Declaratory relief is not an independent cause of action or theory of recovery, only 
a remedy.” Muhammad v. Berreth, No. C 12-02407 CRB, 2012 WL 4838427, at *5 (N.D. 
Cal. Oct. 10, 2012); see also 28 U.S.C. § 2201. Thus, Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief cause of 
action fails to state a valid claim because it is not a separate and independent cause of 
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action. 
ii.  Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief action fails to state a claim because it       

impermissibly seeks redress for alleged wrongs that have already     
occurred. 

“The purpose of a declaratory judgment is to set controversies at rest before they 
cause harm to the plaintiff, not to remedy harms that have already occurred.” Edejer v. DHI 
Mortg. Co., C 09-1302 PJH, 2009 WL 1684714, at *11 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 12, 2009). Thus, 
“‘[d]eclaratory judgment is not a corrective remedy and should not be used to remedy past 
wrongs.’ (Citation omitted) Instead, ‘[t]he purpose of a declaratory judgment is to set forth 
a declaration of future rights.’ (Citation omitted).” Kim, 2016 WL 1241541, at * 8.  

Here, Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief claim fails because it seeks to redress past wrongs 
rather than a declaration as to future rights. It is clear from the FAC that Plaintiffs are 
seeking to undo past judgments entered in the state court actions. Their claims do not 
concern prospective, or future rights. As a result, Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief cause of 
action should be dismissed with prejudice.  

     iii. Plaintiffs’ lack standing to assert a claim for declaratory relief.  
“Article III of the Constitution limits federal courts' jurisdiction to certain ‘Cases’ 

and ‘Controversies.’” Clapper v. Amnesty Intern. USA, 568 U.S. 398, 408 (2013). “‘One 
element of the case-or-controversy requirement’ is that plaintiffs ‘must establish that they 
have standing to sue.’ (Citations omitted)” Ibid. Article III standing consists of three 
elements: (1) the plaintiff must have suffered an “injury in fact;” (2) “there must be a causal 
connection between the injury and the conduct complained of;” and (3) “it must be ‘likely,’ 
as opposed to merely ‘speculative,’ that the injury will be ‘redressed by a favorable 
decision.” Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). “It is the responsibility 
of the complainant clearly to allege facts demonstrating that he is a proper party to invoke 
judicial resolution of the dispute and exercise of the court's remedial powers.” Warth v. 
Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 518 (1975).  In other words, “[t]he party invoking federal jurisdiction 
bears the burden of establishing these elements.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. 
/  /  / 
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In order to satisfy the “injury in fact” element, Plaintiffs “must assert a grievance 
that is both ‘concrete and particularized.’” Jewel v. National Sec. Agency, 673 F.3d 902, 
908 (2011). For the causal connection element to be satisfied “the injury has to be ‘fairly . 
. . trace[able] to the challenged action of the defendant, and not . . . th[e] result [of] the 
independent action of some third party not before the court.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560. 
Evaluating redressability, the third element, “requires an analysis of whether the court has 
the power to right or to prevent the claimed injury.” Gonzales v. Gorsuch, 688 F.2d 1263, 
1267 (9th Cir. 1982). 

“[E]ach element must be supported in the same way as any other matter on which 
the plaintiff bears the burden of proof, i.e., with the manner and degree of evidence required 
at the successive stages of the litigation.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561.  

Here, Plaintiffs were not parties in the state court actions and lack standing to sue 
Judge Wohlfeil. First, the Sherlock Plaintiffs fail to satisfy all three elements of Article III 
standing as it applies to Judge Wohlfeil. There are no allegations that the Sherlock Plaintiffs 
have any interest in the property which was the subject of the Cotton I and II actions. 
Instead, the Sherlock Plaintiffs allege they have an interest in two cannabis conditional use 
permits (“CUPs”), the “Balboa CUP” and the “Ramona CUP,” which they claim were 
fraudulently acquired by certain defendants named in the FAC, but not by Judge Wohlfeil. 
(FAC at ¶¶ 82-109.) Because these Plaintiffs claim their interests in the CUPs were 
fraudulently acquired by others, none of whom are Judge Wohlfeil, they have not suffered 
an injury in fact as applied to Judge Wohlfeil. Further, there is no causal connection 
between their alleged injury, which appears to be a loss of interest in the CUPs, and Judge 
Wohlfeil’s judicial duties in the underlying state actions. Absent from the FAC are 
allegations or any showing that Cotton I and/or Cotton II concerned the adjudication of 
rights regarding the “Balboa CUP” and/or the “Ramona CUP.”  

Additionally, because there is no causal connection between Judge Wohlfeil’s 
judicial duties in Cotton I and/or Cotton II and the adjudication of rights concerning the 
“Balboa CUP” and/or “Ramona CUP,” the Sherlock Plaintiffs fail to show redressability, 
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the third element of Article III standing. In the declaratory relief, the Sherlock Plaintiffs 
seek a determination that the judgments reached in Cotton I and II are void. However, the 
Sherlock Plaintiffs were not a party in Cotton I and/or Cotton II. Also, if adjudication of 
Cotton I and/or Cotton II did not concern the “Balboa CUP” and/or the “Ramona CUP,” 
then there is no redressability. Thus, because the Sherlock Plaintiffs have no standing, the 
declaratory relief cause of action asserted against Judge Wohlfeil should be dismissed with 
prejudice. 

Finally, Plaintiff Flores has not demonstrated satisfaction of all three Article III 
requirements, which is his burden. Plaintiff Flores fails to allege an injury in fact because 
he has not asserted a cognizable protected property interest which has been injured. 
Moreover, Plaintiff Flores is unable to allege redressability because he was not a party in 
Cotton I or Cotton II and, and as discussed infra in section III.D.i, this Court does not have 
the power to correct or to prevent his claimed injury. To the extent Plaintiff Flores 
disagreed with Judge Wohlfeil’s ruling on the intervention motion in Cotton I, Plaintiff 
Flores’ remedy was to seek review in the state appellate court. Thus, because Plaintiff 
Flores has no standing, the declaratory relief action should be dismissed with prejudice. 

E. The FAC Fails to State a Viable § 1983 Claim Against Judge Wohlfeil. 
To establish a claim for injunctive relief under § 1983, a plaintiff must establish two 

elements: 1) a violation of a right secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States; 
and 2) that the violation was committed by a person acting under color of state law.  See 
42 U.S.C. § 1983; West v. Atkin, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988). Plaintiff Flores has not stated a § 
1983 claim because he has not alleged a plausible constitutional violation. Johnson v. 
Knowles, 113 F.3d 1114, 1117 (9th Cir. 1997).   

“A procedural due process claim has two elements: deprivation of a constitutional 
protected liberty or property interest and denial of adequate procedural protection.” 
Krainski v. Regents of Nev. Sys. of Higher Educ., 616 F.3d 963, 969-70 (9th Cir. 2010). 
Plaintiff Flores fails to allege both elements in the FAC. First, no cognizable protected 
property interest has been alleged by Plaintiff Flores. “Procedural due process claims 
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require that the plaintiff have a ‘legitimate claim of entitlement’ with an independent 
source, such as state law.” Experimental Holdings, Inc. v. Farris, 503 F.3d 514, 519 (6th 
Cir. 2007). However, Plaintiff Flores fails to assert a legitimate claim of entitlement or 
protected property interest in the FAC.  

Further, Plaintiff Flores fails to allege that he was not provided adequate procedural 
protections. Rather, the allegations in the FAC show the contrary. Plaintiff Flores alleges 
he was deprived of “his property” and the ability to bring a claim as a result of Judge 
Wohlfeil’s ruling on the motion to intervene. (FAC at ¶¶ 264-265.) These allegations 
however, include facts that show the motion to intervene was heard and adjudicated in state 
court. (See FAC at ¶¶ 182, 264-265; see also 6/27/19 Minute Order, RJN, Ex. H.) 
Specifically, Plaintiff Flores’ allegations not only assert he was given access to the courts 
and the ability to bring a claim, but also that he was provided with an opportunity to be 
heard, and was heard by the court and was able to argue his position. (See FAC at ¶¶ 182, 
264-265; see also Flores’ Ex Parte Application, RJN, Ex. I; 6/27/19 Minute Order, RJN, 
Ex. H.) Thus, there are simply no allegations suggesting that the state court proceedings 
did not afford adequate procedural protections.  

Despite being provided access to the courts and an opportunity to be heard, Plaintiff 
Flores is clearly unhappy with Judge Wohlfeil’s ruling on the motion to intervene, as well 
as the Judge’s rulings on other forms of relief in Cotton I and II.  Plaintiff Flores’ discontent 
with Judge Wohlfeil’s rulings does not equate to a violation of his procedural due process 
rights. If a plaintiff could circumvent the independence of the state courts by simply 
applying a § 1983 label to every unfavorable decision by a state court, it would turn federal 
courts into courts of appeal for every state court matter. Therefore, given that Plaintiff 
Flores’ allegations on their face establish that he does not have a viable due process claim 
against Judge Wohlfeil, the § 1983 civil rights claim should be dismissed with prejudice. 
/  /  / 
/  /  / 
/  /  / 
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IV. 
CONCLUSION 

 As set forth above, this action against Judge Wohlfeil is barred because he enjoys 
absolute judicial immunity. It is further precluded by the Eleventh Amendment.  
Additionally, Plaintiffs’ declaratory relief claim fails because it is not a cognizable cause 
of action, Plaintiffs are improperly seeking to redress past wrongs, and because they lack 
standing. Lastly, Plaintiff Flores fails to state a viable § 1983 claim. Because Plaintiffs 
cannot cure these defects by way of amendment, Judge Wohlfeil respectfully requests that 
the Court grant this Motion to Dismiss, without leave to amend, and enter a judgment of 
dismissal with prejudice in his favor.  

      

Respectfully submitted, 
      SUSANNE C. KOSKI 
      Superior Court of California, County of San Diego 
DATED: 

By: __s/ Carmela E. Duke                    _________                 
January 13, 2021             CARMELA E. DUKE 

Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. 
Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of 
California, County of San Diego 
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SUSANNE C. KOSKI, State Bar No. 176555 
CARMELA E. DUKE, State Bar No. 270348 
Superior Court of California, County of San Diego 
1100 Union Street 
San Diego, California 92101 
Telephone: (619) 844-2382 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil,  
Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of  
San Diego  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

ANDREW FLORES, et al.,  

 Plaintiffs, 

v. 

GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 20-cv-0656-TWR-DEB
 
DEFENDANT JUDGE JOEL R. 
WOHLFEIL’S REQUEST FOR 
JUDICIAL NOTICE IN SUPPORT OF 
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH 
PREJUDICE 
 
Date:     May 5, 2021 
Time:    1:30 p.m. 
Crtrm:   3A (Schwartz) 
Judge:   The Honorable Todd W. Robinson
 
[NO ORAL ARGUMENT 
REQUESTED] 

Defendant the Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of 

California, County of San Diego, respectfully request the Court to take judicial notice 

of the following documents pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201: 
 

Exhibit A: Complaint in Geraci v. Cotton (“Cotton I”), San Diego  
   Superior Court (“SDSC”) Case No. 37-2017-00010073- 

CU-BC-CTL; 
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Exhibit B:  Notice of Case Assignment for Cotton I, SDSC Case No.  
 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 

 
 Exhibit C: Judgment on Jury Verdict in Cotton I, SDSC Case  No.  
   37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit D: Remittitur in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37-2017- 
   00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit E: Judgment After Order Denying Motion for Issuance of  
  Peremptory Writ of Mandate in Cotton v. Geraci  
  (“Cotton II”), SDSC Case No. 37-2017-00037675-CU- 
  WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit F: Remittitur in Cotton II, SDSC Case No. 37-2017- 
  00037675-CU-WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit G: Case Summary of Parties in Cotton I and Cotton II,  
  SDSC Case Nos. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL and 
  37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit H: Minute Order dated June 27, 2019 in Cotton I, SDSC  
 Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; and 
  
 Exhibit I: Ex Parte Application in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37- 
   2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL. 
 
 

      SUSANNE C. KOSKI 
Superior Court of California, County of San 
Diego 

DATED: 
By: __s/ Carmela E. Duke             _________ 

January 13, 2021            CARMELA E. DUKE 
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel 
R. Wohlfeil, Judge of the Superior Court of 
California, County of San Diego 
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SUSANNE C. KOSKI, State Bar No. 176555 
CARMELA E. DUKE, State Bar No. 270348 
Superior Court of California, County of San Diego 
1100 Union Street 
San Diego, California 92101 
Telephone: (619) 844-2382 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil,  
Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of  
San Diego  
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
ANDREW FLORES, et al.,  
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 v. 
 
GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 
 
 Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 20-cv-0656-TWR-DEB 
 
DECLARATION OF CARMELA E. 
DUKE IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT 
JUDGE JOEL R. WOHLFEIL’S 
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH 
PREJUDICE  
 
Date:     May 5, 2021 
Time:    1:30 p.m. 
Crtrm:   3A (Schwartz) 
Judge:   The Honorable Todd W. Robinson 
 
[NO ORAL ARGUMENT 
REQUESTED] 

I, CARMELA E. DUKE, declare as follows: 
1. I am licensed to practice law in the State of California and employed as a 

litigation attorney by the Superior Court of California, County of San Diego.   
 2. I have personal knowledge of the matters stated here and if called as a 
witness, I would competently testify thereto. 
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3. On November 20, 2020, pursuant to section III.A.1 of the Civil Standing 
Order of the Honorable Todd W. Robinson, United States District Judge of the 
Southern District of California, I initiated the meet and confer process by sending a 
letter to Plaintiff Andrew Flores, who is also attorney for Plaintiffs Amy Sherlock and 
Minors T.S. and S. S., notifying him of my intent to file a motion to dismiss to the 
First Amended Complaint on behalf of Defendant, the Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil, 
Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of San Diego (“Judge Wohlfeil”).  
The letter outlined the legal bases for the motion to dismiss and requested that 
Plaintiff Flores contact me on or before December 4, 2020, to informally resolve the 
lawsuit.  (A true and correct copy of the correspondence sent to Plaintiff Flores on 
November 20, 2020 is attached as Exhibit “1” to this Declaration.) 

4. To date, Plaintiff Flores has failed to respond to my request to meet and 
confer as detailed above.  

5. Attached to the Request for Judicial Notice in Support of the Motion to 
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint by Defendant Judge Wohlfeil, are true 
and correct copies of the following documents: 
 

Exhibit A: Complaint in Geraci v. Cotton (“Cotton I”), San Diego  
   Superior Court (“SDSC”) Case No. 37-2017-00010073- 

CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit B:  Notice of Case Assignment for Cotton I, SDSC Case No.  
  37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit C: Judgment on Jury Verdict in Cotton I, SDSC Case  No.  
   37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit D: Remittitur in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37-2017- 
   00010073-CU-BC-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit E: Judgment After Order Denying Motion for Issuance of  
  Peremptory Writ of Mandate in Cotton v. Geraci  
  (“Cotton II”), SDSC Case No. 37-2017-00037675-CU- 
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  WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit F: Remittitur in Cotton II, SDSC Case No. 37-2017- 
  00037675-CU-WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit G: Case Summary of Parties in Cotton I and Cotton II,  
  SDSC Case Nos. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL and 
  37-2017-00037675-CU-WM-CTL; 
 
 Exhibit H: Minute Order dated June 27, 2019 in Cotton I, SDSC  
 Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL; and 
  
 Exhibit I: Ex Parte Application in Cotton I, SDSC Case No. 37- 
   2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL. 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  
Executed this 13th day of January 2021, in San Diego, California. 

 
__s/ Carmela E. Duke             _________ 

             CARMELA E. DUKE 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

Andrew Flores, Esq. 
Law Office of Andrew Flores 
945 4th Avenue, Suite 412 
San Diego, CA 92101 

SAN DIEGO COUNIY COURTHOUSE 
PO Box 122724 

SAN DIEGO, CA 92112-2724 

November 20, 2020 

RE: Flores, et al. v. Austin, et al., Case No. 3 :20-cv-00656-TWR-DEB 

Dear Mr. Flores: 

I represent the Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil in the above-entitled action. I am writing you 
in a good faith attempt to resolve this matter informally and prior to Judge Wohlfeil making an 
appearance in this case and filing a Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Complaint ("F AC"). 
District Judge Todd W. Robinson's Standing Order of Civil Cases requires any party 
contemplating filing a noticed motion in his court to meet and confer in an attempt to resolve the 
issue which is subject of the motion. This letter shall serve as Judge Wohlfeil's good faith 
attempt to comply with Judge Robinson's chamber rules and meet and confer to informally 
resolve the issues concerning your F AC. 

We request that you please voluntarily dismiss the action you filed against Judge 
Wohlfeil because it is barred as a matter of law. If you are not willing to voluntarily dismiss the 
action against Judge Wohlfeil, then we intend to seek a formal dismissal of the FAC on the 
following grounds: 

1. Judge Wohlfeil is absolutely immune from liability under the doctrine of judicial 
immunity because the actions upon which the FAC are based were taken in the judge's official 
judicial capacity. Judges are granted absolute immunity from civil liability for their judicial 
actions. Stump v. Sparkman, 435 U.S. 349, 355-356 (1978). "Judicial immunity applies however 
erroneous the act may have been, and however injurious in its consequences it may have proved 
to the plaintiff." Ashe/man v. Pope, 793 F.2d 1072, 1075 (9th Cir. 1986) (internal quotation 
marks omitted). "Disagreement with the action taken by [a] judge," even one resulting in "tragic 
consequences," also "does not justify depriving that judge of his immunity." Stump, 435 U.S. at 
363 (applying judicial immunity to judge who approved petition for sterilization even if approval 
was in error). 

Judicial immunity is overcome only in two circumstances: where the judge "acts in the 
clear absence of all jurisdiction, [citation], or performs an act that is not 'judicial' in nature." 
Ashe/man, 793 F.2d at 1075; see also Mireles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 11 (1991). Neither of these 
two circumstances apply to this case. Instead, the FAC is entirely based on actions and 

1 
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Exhibit 1 
2

statements made by Judge Wohlfeil while he was the presiding judge in Cotton I and Cotton I 
Because the claims for relief against Judge Wohlfeil are based on acts done in his official 
capacity as a judge in Cotton I and Cotton II, Judge Wohlfeil is protected under the doctrine of 
absolute judicial immunity. 

Moreover, judge's errors should be corrected on appeal, not by subsequent civil 
litigation, because civil liability "would contribute not to principled and fearless decisionmaking 
but to intimidation." Pierson v. Ray, 386 U.S. 547, 554 (1967). This lawsuit is an improper 
vehicle to challenge Judge Wohlfeil's rulings made in Cotton I and 11 

2. Judge Wohlfeil is immune from liability under the Eleventh Amendment. The 
Eleventh Amendment generally bars suits against a state or an arm of the state under principles of 
sovereign immunity. Franceschi v. Schwartz, 57 F.3d 828, 831 (9th Cir. 1995). The Eleventh 
Amendment has been construed as a grant of sovereign immunity to states against suits in federal 
court and is in the nature of a jurisdictional bar. See Alabama v. Pugh, 438 U.S. 781, 782 n.1 (1978); 
see also Riggle v. California, 577 F.2d 579, 581-82 (9th Cir. 1978). California superior courts are 
considered arms of the state and therefore enjoy Eleventh Amendment immunity. Simmons v. 
Sacramento County Superior Court, 318 F.3d 1156, 1161 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding Eleventh 
Amendment barred § 1983 claim against superior court and its employees); Los Angeles County 
Ass'n of Envtl. Health Specialists v. Lewin, 215 F. Supp. 2d 1071, 1078 (C.D. Cal. 2002). Similarly, 
because judges and court employees are considered arms of the state, they are also entitled to 
immunity. See Will v. Michigan Dept. of State Police, 491 U.S. 58, 71 (1989); Simmons, 318 F.3d at 
1161. The immunity applies to suits for damages, injunctive relief, and declaratory relief. 
Franceschi, supra, 57 F.3d at 831. 

All of the allegations against Judge Wohlfeil concern acts undertaken in his official 
capacity as a judicial officer of the Superior Court. Accordingly, the Eleventh Amendment also 
bars the claims for relief asserted in the F AC. 

3. All three plaintiffs lack standing to sue Judge Wohlfeil. As plaintiffs you must 
establish that you have standing pursuant to Article III of the U.S. Constitution. Article III standing 
has three elements: (1) the plaintiff must have suffered an "injury in fact;" (2) "there must be a 
causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of;" and (3) "it must be 'likely,' 
as opposed to merely 'speculative,' that the injury will be 'redressed by a favorable decision." Lujan 
v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). You and the Sherlock plaintiffs have not 
satisfied these three elements. 

4. The declaratory relief claim fails as a matter of law because it cannot be used to 
remedy past wrongs. (Edejer v. DHI Mortg. Co., C 09-1302 PJH, 2009 WL 1684714, at *11 (N.D. 
Cal., 2009). The relief you and the Sherlock plaintiffs seek in the F AC is to redress alleged past 
wrongs. You are not seeking a declaration as to future rights. Thus, as a matter of law, plaintiffs are 
not entitled to declaratory relief and this cause of action has no merit. 

5. Finally, the first cause of action, asserted by you against Judge Wohlfeil, fails to 
state a viable claim for relief. To establish a claim for injunctive relief under § 1983, a plaintiff 
must establish two elements: 1) a violation of a right secured by the Constitution or laws of the 
United States; and 2) that the violation was committed by a person acting under color of state 
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law. See 42 U.S.C. § 1983; West v. Atkin, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988). You have not stated a viable§ 
1983 claim because you have not alleged a plausible constitutional violation. Johnson v. 
Knowles, 113 F .3d 1114, 1117 (9th Cir. 1997). 

You fail to allege a procedural due process claim against Judge Wohlfeil. A procedural 
due process claim has two elements: deprivation of a constitutional protected liberty or property 
interest and denial of adequate procedural protection." Krainski v. Regents of Nev. Sys. of Higher 
Educ., 616 F.3d 963, 969-70 (9th Cir. 2010). First, you have not alleged a cognizable property 
interest. Second, even if you did, which you have not, the allegations in the F AC show that you 
were provided access to the courts to bring your claim. Additionally, the allegations establish 
that you were provided an opportunity to be heard on your motion, and your issue was 
adjudicated. Thus, the allegations in the F AC demonstrate that your due process rights were not 
violated. As a result, your § 1983 claim cannot survive and should be dismissed. 

Based on the foregoing, I request that you voluntarily dismiss this action against Judge 
Wohlfeil. 

Also, to date you have not served Judge Wohlfeil with a summons and complaint in this 
matter. This letter does not, and in no way, constitute a waiver of service of the summons and the 
FAC. 

Please respond to this meet and confer letter before December 4, 2020, advising whether 
you agree to dismiss this action. If not, please address each of the deficiencies listed above and 
provide any legal authority and analysis you have supporting your assertion that the F AC is 
legally sufficient. 

~ -

Carmela E. Duke 
Litigation Attorney 
Office of General Counsel 
Superior Court of California, 
County of San Diego 
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SUSANNE C. KOSKI, State Bar No. 176555 
CARMELA E. DUKE, State Bar No. 270348 

2 Superior Court of California, County of San Diego 

3 1100 Union Street 
San Diego, California 92101 

4 Telephone: (619) 844-2382 
5 

Attorneys for Defendant, The Honorable Joel R. Wohlfeil, 
6 Judge of the Superior Court of California, County of 
7 San Diego 

8 

9 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

11 
ANDREW FLORES, et al., 

12 

Case No. 20-cv-00656-TWR-DEB 

PROOF OF SERVICE 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

Plaintiffs, 

V. 

GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 

Defendants. 

[CivLR 5.4( c )] 

20 I, PUI KATSIKARIS, declare that: I am over the age of eighteen years and 
not a party to the above-referenced case; I am employed in, or am a resident of, the 

21 County of San Diego, California where the mailing occurs; and my business 
22 address is: 1100 Union Street, San Diego, California. 

23 
I further declare that I am readily familiar with the business practice for 

24 collection and processing of correspondence for mailing with the United States 

25 Postal Service; and that the correspondence shall be deposited with the United 
States Postal Service this same day in the ordinary course of business. 

26 

21 On January 13, 2021, I served the following document(s): DEFENDANT 
JUDGE JOEL R. WOHLFEIL'S NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO 

28 
DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE; 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT WITH 

2 PREJUDICE BY DEFENDANT JUDGE JOEL R. WOHLFEIL; 
3 DEFENDANT JUDGE JOEL R. WOHLFEIL'S REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL 

NOTICE IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED 
4 COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE with EXHIBITS A-I; and 
5 DECLARATION OF CARMELA E. DUKE IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT 

JUDGE JOEL R. WOHLFEIL'S MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED 
6 

COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE by placing a true copy of each document in 
7 a separate envelope addressed to each addressee, respectively, as follows: 

8 

9 
NIA 

I then sealed each envelope and deposited said envelope(s) in the U.S. Postal 
10 

Pick up box, this same day, at my business address shown above, following 
11 ordinary business practices. 

12 Additionally, pursuant to the Electronic Case Filing Administrative Policies 

13 and Procedures Manuel of this Court, Section 2.d.2, service has been effected on 
the parties below, whose counsel of record is a registered participant of CM/ECF, 

14 via electronic service through the CM/ECF system: 
15 

Andrew Flores Email: afloreslaw@gmail.com 
16 

(Plaintiff and Attorney for Plaintiffs Amy Sherlock and Minors T.S. and S.S.) 
17 

18 Gregory Brian Emdee Email: gemdee@kmslegal.com 
(Attorney for Defendants Michael Weinstein, Scott Toothacre, Elyssa Kulas, 

19 Rachel M. Prendergast, and Ferris & Britton APC). 
20 

I declare under penalty of pe1jury under the laws of the State of California 
21 

that the foregoing is true and correct. 
22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Executed on January 13, 2021 
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